# S193990

Supreme Court Case No.

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RANDY VALLI

**Appellant** 

VS.

FRANKIE VALLI

Respondent

Court of Appeal Second Appellate District Case No.: B222435

Superior Court County of Los Angeles Case No.: BD 414038 SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 2 4 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter Walzer, Esq. Christopher C. Melcher, Esq. Walzer & Melcher, LLP SBNs: 101477 and 170547 21700 Oxnard Street, Suite 2080 Woodland Hills, CA 91367

Tel: (818) 591-3700 Fax: (818) 591-3774 Garrett C. Dailey Attorney at Law SBN: 76180 2915 McCluare Street Oakland, California 94609

Tel: (510) 465-3920 Fax: (510) 465-7348

#### ISSUES PRESENTED AND EXPLANATION OF NEED FOR REVIEW

- Does the record title presumption apply to property acquired by spouses during marriage with community funds in the absence of any independent evidence that they intended that said property be characterized as the titled-spouse's separate property?
- ➤ Does Fam. Code §852's requirement of a writing to change character apply to property acquired during marriage?
- ➤ If the asset was acquired from a third party, is the spouse who benefitted from the transaction subject to the interspousal fiduciary duty?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In re Marriage of Valli (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 776 ["the Opinion"], attached hereto.

➤ What showing is required to overcome the presumption of undue influence when one spouse benefits from a transaction during marriage?

The Los Angeles County Superior Court determined that a \$3.75 million life insurance policy with a cash value of \$365,032 was community property because it was acquired during marriage and the premiums were paid with community property. Randy (the wife) appealed, arguing that the policy was her separate property because she had been named the policy's owner.

During marriage, Randy suggested to Frankie (the husband) that they obtain the policy when he was in the hospital suffering from a heart condition. Neither party presented evidence other than the fact that Randy was named the owner of the policy that Frankie intended to make a gift of either the policy itself or its cash value, which accumulated rapidly during marriage. The only evidence presented about the acquisition of the policy was that Frankie agreed with Randy's suggestion to obtain life insurance because he had no plans on separating from Randy and wanted to take care of her and their children if he were to die.

The Court of Appeal reversed the Superior Court on a straight presumption-of-title rationale. It held:

- Because Randy was named the owner of the policy, Frankie had the burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Randy is not the sole owner of the policy.
- Because the policy was originally acquired in Randy's name alone, the community property presumption did not apply.
- Because the parties acquired the policy from a third party (the insurance company), Randy owed no fiduciary duty to Frankie in connection with the transaction.
- Because the policy was acquired from a third party, the protections of Fam. Code §852 did not apply, and therefore the policy's substantial cash value was her separate property all of the premium payments made with community funds during marriage were gifts to her.
- The presumption of undue influence did not arise, even though Randy would receive a substantial asset which was acquired with community funds without payment of any consideration to Frankie.
- Frankie had the burden to prove undue influence, rather than requiring Randy to rebut the presumption that she acquired title to the policy by undue influence.

This opinion resulted from confusion as to the relationship between the Evidence Code section 662 title presumption and the common law presumption of undue influence that arises whenever one spouse gains an advantage over the other spouse in a transaction involving community property. The opinion undermines the fiduciary duty between spouses by relying on record title rather than the

community property presumption and putting the burden on the disadvantaged spouse to prove undue influence rather than on the benefitting spouse to rebut it.

#### INTRODUCTION

Review is important to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law that can adversely impact spouses who do not have control over the family finances. (Calif. Rules of Ct., rule 8.500(b)(1). ) As will be discussed in more detail below, the appellate courts disagree as to the effect to give title when characterizing property between spouses in marital dissolution actions. Although the trial court properly found that the life insurance policy was community property because it was acquired during marriage with community funds, the Second District panel reversed on a straight presumption-of-title rationale. It held that regardless of the lack of any writing transmuting the property from community into Randy's separate property, the mere act of taking title in her name removed it from the community property presumption and the protections of Family Code section 852, resulting in an unintended gift from Frankie to Randy of \$365,032 in cash value, plus \$3.75 million dollars in death benefit proceeds that Frankie intended would be used for his children's support and protection.

All whole life insurance policies are acquired with one party or the other as the named owner. Dozens of published opinions have characterized such policies as community property based upon the acquisition of the policy during marriage or the use of community funds to pay the premiums. This is the first published opinion to hold that, regardless of the policy's community attributes *and the application of the community property presumption*, such a policy is the separate property of the spouse designated as its owner.

If this case stands, hundreds of thousands of California spouses will get a nasty surprise when they learn that that the policies on which community property has been paying the premiums for years are, in fact, the named owner's separate property. This opinion affects far more than life insurance policies. Pension plans and other retirement accounts are always held in the name of the employee spouse. Under this opinion, such assets are now the separate property of the employee spouse, even if all of the benefits were earned during marriage. Houses and cars may be held in the name of one spouse because the other spouse has poor credit and the parties could not qualify for a loan to acquire the asset if they bought it jointly. Those houses and cars are now separate property if this opinion is allowed to stand.

The opinion also takes away the interspousal fiduciary duty in any marital transaction that is between one spouse and a third party. Since property purchased during marriage is almost always acquired from a third party, this case carves a huge hole in marital fiduciary obligations by exempting all property originally acquired by one spouse from a third party during marriage with community funds.

Case law has been consistent that, under Family Code section 852, a writing which expresses a clear intent to transmute is required to change the character of property. (See, e.g., Estate of MacDonald (1990) 51 Cal.3d 262, In re Marriage of Benson (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1096, In re Marriage of Barneson (1999) 69 Cal. App. 4th 583.) By holding that section 852's writing requirement does not apply to assets acquired from third parties, community funds used to acquire a new asset are suddenly transmuted into separate property (a new asset titled in one spouse's name). This creates a major exception in the otherwise strict requirements for a writing "in which the adversely affected spouse expresses a clear understanding that the document changes the character or ownership of specific property." (In re Marriage of Benson, supra, 36 Cal.4th at pp. 1106-1107.) Pursuant to this opinion, a self-serving spouse can create separate property out of community funds by arranging for newly acquired property to be titled in his or her name. This cannot be what this Court intended.

#### SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

Eighteen months prior to separation, Frankie acquired the \$3.75 million life insurance policy insuring his life. (RT 181:15-20; RT 244:15-17 & 293:4-11; JA 20-24 & 56:7-10.) Randy testified that they talked about it while Frankie was in the hospital with heart problems and agreed to obtain a life insurance policy "to protect [her] future." (RT 728:18-22 & 729:4-9.) She testified that Frankie told her that he was "going to make [her] the owner." (RT 728:23-28.)

When Frankie obtained the policy, he had no plans to separate from Randy. (RT 181:21-23.) He had medical problems and wanted to be certain that his family would be taken care of and his children could go to college. (RT 181:24-182:2.) The purpose of the policy was to provide financial security for them when he died. (JA 56:9-10.) As Randy put it: "[The purpose was] to prepare for my future in case something did happen to Frankie." (RT 729:4-9.) There was no evidence of any agreement or understanding as to the policy's character. Its cash value of the policy as of September 12, 2008, was \$365,032. (RT 245:12-18.) It named Randy as "the owner." (RT 247:24-248:1.)

Barry Siegel had been the business manager for Frankie Valli and The Four Seasons since 1994. (RT 289:10-25.) His office made the premium payments on the policy. Between March 7, 2003, when the first premium payment was made and December 3, 2008, \$512,675.75 in payments were made on it. (RT 291:5-

292:5 & 293:9-12; Trial Exhibit 52 [JA 155-158].) Randy never offered to contribute to the cost of the premiums on the policy. Frankie paid them all. (RT 188:13-20.)

The parties offered little testimony about the policy. Frankie testified that he did not want Randy to be the beneficiary of a policy on his life after separation because he wanted the death benefits to go to his children. (RT 188:3-12.) He testified that he had established a child support trust to secure his child support obligation. (RT 866.) He was concerned about the estate taxes his children will have to pay upon his death. He would like them to be able to keep the Four Seasons music catalog intact as it would be a source of income for them. The insurance that he obtained was part of the plan to help keep the catalog in the family after his death. (RT 184:28-185:11.) Randy admitted that she had paid Frankie nothing to be listed as the owner of the policy. (RT 450.)

At one point, the Court assumed that because Frankie purchased the policy during marriage, it was community property and asked if everyone agreed. (RT 450:22-451:3.) Randy's attorney replied: "depending on how the evidence goes, it may be separate property, depending on the reasons why – that he acquired the policy and put her name on it." (RT 451:4-8.)

Randy offered no evidence as to why she was listed as the owner rather than just the beneficiary. She offered no testimony of any substance as to their

discussions, her actions, or anything related to the acquisition beyond that it was a joint decision and that: "[The purpose for obtaining the policy was] to [protect/prepare for] my future in case something did happen to Frankie." (RT 728:5-729:9.) She also presented no evidence that Frankie understood that by naming her the policy owner, he was making a gift to her of policy's substantial cash value that rapidly accumulated and its death benefits.

The Trial Court applied the community property presumption and held that the policy was a community asset, awarded it to Frankie and ordered him to reimburse Randy for half of its cash value. The Court of Appeal reversed in a published opinion. No request for rehearing was made in the Court of Appeal.

#### I

# LIFE INSURANCE POLICIES ACQUIRED DURING MARRIAGE WITH COMMUNITY PROPERTY FUNDS ARE COMMUNITY PROPERTY

The Court of Appeal held that the character of an insurance policy acquired and paid for during marriage with community funds is determined by the act of designating one of the spouses as the "owner." The first and most obvious problem with this holding is that it is simply incorrect as a matter of black letter law; this issue has been settled in California for probably a hundred years. As stated in *Mundt v. Connecticut General Life Ins. Co.* (1939) 35 Cal.App.2d 416, 421:

"From the leading case of New York Life Ins. Co. v. Bank of Italy, 60 Cal. App. 602, 214 P. 61, through the many intervening cases, down to Travelers' Ins. Co. v. Fancher, 219 Cal. 351, 26 P.2d 482, the only test applied to this problem has been whether the premiums (on a policy issued on the life of a husband after coverture) are paid entirely from community funds. If so, the policy becomes a community asset...."

### Witkin succinctly states:

#### [§ 47] Whole Life Insurance.

- (1) General Rule. Where the premiums on a spouse's life insurance policy are paid with community funds, the chose in action represented by the policy is community property. (See Blethen v. Pacific Mut. Life Ins. Co. of Calif. (1926) 198 C. 91, 99, 243 P. 431; Tyre v. Aetna Life Ins. Co. (1960) 54 C.2d 399, 402, 6 C.R. 13, 353 P.2d 725, infra, §141; New York Life Ins. Co. v. Bank of Italy (1923) 60 C.A. 602, 605, 214 P. 61; Mundt v. Connecticut General Life Ins. Co. (1939) 35 C.A.2d 416, 421, 95 P.2d 966; Bazzell v. Endriss (1940) 41 C.A.2d 463, 465, 107 P.2d 49; Estate of Wedemeyer (1952) 109 C.A.2d 67, 71, 240 P.2d 8; Fidelity & Cas. Co. of New York v. Mahoney (1945) 71 C.A.2d 65, 69, 161 P.2d 944, infra, §113 [must show that premium was paid with community funds]; O'Connor v. Travelers Ins. Co. (1959) 169 C.A.2d 763, 765, 337 P.2d 893 [same]; Estate of Mendenhall (1960) 182 C.A.2d 441, 444, 6 C.R. 45; *Polk v. Polk* (1964) 228 C.A.2d 763, 781, 39 C.R. 824; Patillo v. Norris (1976) 65 C.A.3d 209, 217, 135 C.R. 210; 18 Pacific L. J. 969; 54 A.L.R.4th 1203 [valuation]; Rutter Group, 2 Family Law §8:331.)
- (2) Distinction: Spouse as Beneficiary. If the spouse is the beneficiary of the insured spouse's policy, this is a gift of community property to the beneficiary spouse. At the death of the insured

spouse, the proceeds vest in the beneficiary spouse as his or her separate property. (Estate of Miller (1937) 23 C.A.2d 16, 18, 71 P.2d 1117; Shaw v. Board of Administration, State Employees' Retirement System (1952) 109 C.A.2d 770, 774, 241 P.2d 635.)<sup>2</sup>

(11 Witkin, Summary 10th (2005) Comm. Prop. §47, p.578 (emphasis added).)

Cal.Jur.3d concurs: "A policy of insurance on a spouse's life is community property where the premiums have been paid with community funds." (39A Cal. Jur. 3d Insurance Contracts (2010) §367.)

Bassett, California Community Property Law §5:44 (2010 ed.) states: "Under California community property law a life insurance policy purchased with community funds is an asset of the community. Life insurance paid for by an employer as a benefit of employment is community property."

Literally dozens of published opinions have flatly held that "(a) policy of insurance on the husband's life is community property when the premiums have been paid with community funds." (*Tyre v. Aetna Life Ins. Co, supra*, 54 Cal.2d at p. 402; see also, *In re Marriage of Elfmont* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1026, 1039 (J. George concurring and dissenting), *Life Ins. Co. of North America v. Cassidy* (1984) 35 Cal.3d 599, 605; *McBride v. McBride* (1936) 11 Cal.App.2d 521, 523-524; *Estate of Foy* (1952) 109 Cal.App.2d 329, 333; *In re Sears' Estate* (1960) 182 Cal.App.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is actually an important, albeit unrelated point, namely that the gift of policy benefits, if any, takes place upon the death of the insured, not upon the acquisition of the policy.

525, 530-531; Dixon Lumber Co. v. Peacock (1933) 217 Cal. 415, 418; Estate of Foy, (1952) 109 Cal.App.2d 329, 333; Estate of Sears (1960) 182 Cal.App.2d 525, 530; Field v. Bank of America (1950) 100 Cal.App.2d 311, 314-315; Johnston v. Johnston (1951) 106 Cal.App.2d 775, 779; Polk v. Polk (1964) 228 Cal.App.2d 763, 781; and Estate of Baratta-Lorton v. C.I.R. (1985) T.C. Memo. 1985-72, 1985 WL 14707.)

In each of these cases, one spouse or the other was the named owner of the policy; however, that did not control its character. Rather, the factors that determined character were: 1) when was the policy acquired, and 2) who made the premium payments. In other words, if the policy was acquired during marriage and the community made the payments, then the policy was community property – period. Notwithstanding this unbroken line of cases, the Court of Appeal held that it does not matter that the community acquired and made the payments on the policy – all that matters is who was designated its "owner."

All will agree that spouses designate a policy owner for many reasons, probably none of which relate to its character in the event of a divorce. At page 18 of her opening brief, Randy stated:

"It can be inferred that [designating Randy as the owner] was also done for estate planning purposes as is often the case when one spouse is made the owner of an insurance policy as part of the estate plan of the other spouse."

In spite of one spouse's being named as owner for a totally unrelated purpose or for no particular reason at all, the Opinion held that whichever spouse happens to be so named is also the policy's absolute owner for all purposes, including characterization upon divorce. That will be an unpleasant surprise to half of the California spouses who believe that such policies are community property and represents a dramatic 180-degree departure from a hundred years of California law.

# II. THE OPINION ERODES THE COMMUNITY PROPERTY PRESUMPTION

"When life insurance premiums are paid with community property funds, the resulting policy is an asset of the community. [Citations.]" (*Life Ins. Co. of North America v. Cassidy, supra,* 35 Cal.3d 599, 605.) Community property is defined as "all property" which is acquired by "a married person" during marriage, "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by statute." (Fam. Code §760.) The definition includes property acquired during marriage by one spouse acting alone and in one spouse's sole name, unless another statute characterizes it as separate property.

In dissolution actions, the party claiming that the property is separate always bears the burden of proof to overcome the community property presumption and establish by a preponderance of evidence that an asset acquired during marriage is

not community property. (*Marriage of Ettefagh* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 1578, 1584.) Because Frankie acquired the policy during marriage with community funds, it falls within the definition of community property. (Fam. Code §760.) Nevertheless, the trial court held that it was Randy's separate property simply because he designated her as its owner. How did this happen?

Relying on *Marriage of Brooks & Robinson* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 176, 186-187 ["*Brooks*"], the Opinion held " 'the act of taking title to property in the name of one spouse during marriage with the consent of the other spouse effectively removes that property from the general community property presumption. In that situation, the property is presumably the separate property of the spouse in whose name title is taken. [Citations.]' " (Opinion, p.783.) And, that presumption can only be rebutted by clear and convincing proof. (*Ibid.*)<sup>3</sup>

Brooks is a model for the axiom that bad facts make bad law. The trial court in Brooks was addressing the issue of whether a third party (a business that purchased distressed properties) which bought a residence titled in the name of one of the spouses was a bona fide purchaser for value. The case did not deal with whether the title property presumption trumps the fiduciary duties between spouses and the marital presumptions. The Brooks court acknowledged that the form of title presumption does not apply in a dispute between spouses regarding the character to property where one has received an unfair advantage over the other. The husband, who was in pro per, never argued that wife's acquisition of title in her name was due to any undue influence. (Id., 169 Cal.App.4th at p.190, fn.8.) But Brooks is now being cited for the unfortunate proposition that the title presumption will prevail over the laws relating to transmutation and fiduciary duty.

Suddenly, instead of the presumption being that property acquired during marriage is community as provided by Family Code section 760, if the property is acquired in one spouse's name, as insurance policies usually are, the presumption is flipped and the asset is presumed to be separate property, requiring the non-titled spouse to present clear and convincing evidence to the contrary to bring it back into the community property fold. This conflicts with virtually all published marital property cases in the last 150 years of California history and is simply wrong.

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