Supreme Court Case No. S193990

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

In re Marriage of FRANKIE and  
RANDY VALLI:

FRANKIE VALLI,

Petitioner and Respondent,

v.

RANDY VALLI,

Respondent and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

JUL 15 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy



---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

After a Published Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate  
District, Division Five, Case No. B222435

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BD414038  
The Honorable Mark Juhas  
Judge of the Superior Court

JAFFE AND CLEMENS  
William S. Ryden (SBN 92895)  
Nancy Braden-Parker (SBN 207655)  
433 North Camden Drive  
Suite 1000

## I. INTRODUCTION

In rendering its decision, the Court of Appeal applied the rule set forth in *Marriage of Lucas* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 808 [166 Cal.Rptr. 853, 614 P.2d 285] (*Lucas*), that the affirmative act of specifying a form of ownership in the conveyance removes property acquired by a married person during marriage from the more general presumption of community property so that the more specific form of title presumption, now codified in Evidence Code §662, applies in characterizing the property. *Id.* at pp. 814-815. The Petition for Review misrepresents the state of the law. It does not cite *Lucas* and ignores the ruling.

In applying the rule in *Lucas*, the Court of Appeal correctly applied well-established law to a new set of facts and circumstances presented by the *Valli* case. The Court of Appeal concluded that a life insurance policy on the life of petitioner and respondent, Frankie Valli (Frankie), naming respondent and appellant, Randy Valli (Randy) as both the policy owner and beneficiary is Randy's separate property under the "form of title" presumption—a presumption which was not rebutted by Frankie.

The Court of Appeal opinion was a specific application of the rule in *Lucas* to a narrow and very unique set of facts and circumstances. Frankie, who was the transacting spouse, unilaterally and with the assistance of his insurance agent and business manager, intentionally divested himself of all indicia of ownership and made Randy the legal and beneficial owner of the policy from the inception of title. The claim in the Petition that "hundreds of thousands of California spouses will get a nasty surprise" is a fiction based on a false premise. This decision is not one of broad interest or effect. It is

unlikely to affect spouses other than possibly high net worth individuals who are trying to decrease the value of their taxable estate by deliberately divesting themselves of all incidents of ownership in insurance policies to avoid taxes.

As discussed below, Frankie seeks Supreme Court review by mischaracterizing the facts of this particular case, the decision of the Court of Appeal and the law. There is no conflict among the lower courts and no important unsettled question of law is at issue in this case. The case does not meet any of the other criteria for granting review set forth in California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500 subdivision (b), and thus review should not be granted. Frankie's own disagreement with the Court of Appeal's decision is not sufficient to warrant review. The well-reasoned unanimous opinion of the Court of Appeal, should stand.

## **II. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW**

### **A. There is No Conflict Among Lower Court Decisions**

The Petition for Review states incorrectly that the Court of Appeal decision "conflicts with virtually all published marital property cases in the last 150 years of California history and is simply wrong." The Petition is simply wrong. The Court of Appeal opinion in this case is not in conflict with any of the decisions cited in the Petition or any other marital property cases. In fact this is the first published case to decide the narrow question presented. The Petition claims that the decision is in conflict with numerous California decisions holding that where the premiums on a spouse's life insurance policy are paid with community funds, the policy is community property. The Petition would have the Supreme Court review this case based on other cases with entirely different facts. In all of the purportedly conflicting cases, one

spouse is both the policyholder and the insured. In the instant case, the insured spouse is also the transacting spouse who purposely divested himself of all indicia of ownership and named his spouse as both owner and beneficiary.

In addition, the cases cited in the Petition establish that when a policy is acquired with community funds, the uninsured spouse has a beneficial interest in half the proceeds of the policy that cannot be defeated by the insured spouse. This common law rule is codified in Probate Code § 5020. The form of title presumption provides that the owner of legal title to property is rebuttably presumed to be the owner of full beneficial title. The presumption would be rebutted where the insured holds legal title and the uninsured spouse holds some incidents of beneficial title, so the general presumption of community property would apply in those types of cases. That is not the situation here.

In the instant case the insured spouse Frankie, purposely caused the uninsured spouse Randy, to be vested with both legal and equitable title to the policy when the policy was taken out. The Court of Appeal decision is entirely consistent with the cases cited in the Petition for Review. It is also consistent with California law as expressed in cases such as *In re Marriage of Holtemann* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 1166 [83 Cal.Rptr.3d 385], and *In re Marriage of Lund* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 40 [94 Cal.Rptr.3d 84], which hold essentially that once the character of property is deliberately established for one purpose, it is established for all purposes. The Court of Appeal reached the correct result in the *Valli* case based on the law and the facts.

There is no conflict between the challenged decision and the decisions from other appellate districts regarding the applicability of the presumption of



title when married persons specify a form of ownership at the time of acquisition of property. See; *Lucas, supra*, 27 Cal.3d at pp. 814-815 [166 Cal.Rptr. 853, 614 P.2d 285]; *In re Marriage of Brooks & Robinson* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 176, 186-187 [86 Cal.Rptr.3d 624] (*Brooks*). The Court of Appeal merely articulated the existing rule and then applied it to the narrow and unique facts and circumstances of this case.

**B. No Important Unsettled Question of Law is Presented**

The Petition does not present an important unsettled question of law. Frankie states that there are four issues for Supreme Court review, but none fairly characterizes the Court of Appeal's decision, the facts of the case or the law or warrants such review. The first claimed issue is whether the record title presumption applies to property acquired by spouses during marriage with community funds in the absence of any independent evidence that they intended that said property be characterized as the titled spouse's separate property. That purported statement of an unsettled issue simply reveals a misunderstanding of settled law. The presumption of title is rebuttable by clear and convincing evidence of a common understanding to the contrary. As stated by this Court in *Lucas*:

“The rule requiring an understanding or agreement comes into play when the issue is whether the presumption arising from the form of title has been overcome. It is supported by sound policy considerations, and we decline to depart from it. *Lucas, supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 815 [166 Cal.Rptr. 853, 614 P.2d 285].

In this case, Frankie's testimony supported the conclusion that the policy is Randy's property. Furthermore, Frankie offered no evidence to rebut

the title presumption, the alleged fiduciary duty issue or the alleged transmutation issue as noted in the opinion of the Court of Appeal. *In re Marriage of Valli* (2011)195 Cal.App.4th 776, 784-787 [124 Cal.Rptr.3d 726] (*Valli*).

The second purported issue is whether acquisition of property from a third party constitutes a transmutation triggering the writing requirements of Family Code §852. The Petition suggests that the Opinion will lead to perjured testimony regarding oral agreements or “pillow talk” to overcome the presumption of title because the opinion confines the definition of “transmutation” to transfers of property between spouses and not acquisitions from third parties. The Petition states: “Both *Brooks* and the Opinion recognize that record title can be overcome by clear and convincing evidence of an ‘oral agreement or understanding.’” This statement misrepresents both opinions.

In fact, the word “oral” does not appear in either opinion except in a footnote in *Valli* quoting a statutory reference to “oral stipulation of the parties in open court.” *Valli, supra*, 195 Cal.App.4th 776, 781, n.8 [124 Cal.Rptr.3d 726] (*Valli*). As set forth above, *Valli* is the first published opinion to apply the presumption of title to the narrow and unique set of facts in this case. The melodramatic predictions in the Petition are merely speculative. It is highly unlikely that a court would find “pillow talk” to be the clear and convincing evidence needed to overcome the presumption of title.

The Petition states correctly that Family Code §852 does not define “transmutation.” However, Family Code §850 gives married persons the right to “transmute” property by agreement from separate property into community

property, from community property into separate property, or from separate property of one spouse to separate property of the other. This implies that, in order for a transmutation to occur, the property must already have been characterized as community or separate. In a transaction with a third party, property of a third party becomes property of one or both of the spouses. Characterization occurs at the time of acquisition. Where there is documentary evidence of how title is taken, either jointly or separately, presumptions arise regarding the character of the property. Where there is written evidence that title is taken separately, the Evidence Code section 662 presumption applies to make the property presumptively separate. *Lucas, supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 818 [614 P.2d 285, 166 Cal.Rptr. 853]; *Brooks, supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th at p. 190 [86 Cal.Rptr.3d 624]. When there is written evidence that title is taken jointly, the Family Code section 2581 presumption applies to make the property presumptively community.<sup>1</sup> In either case, the source of funds for the acquisition is irrelevant unless the presumption is rebutted.

---

<sup>1</sup> Family Code section 2581 provides: “For the purpose of division of property on dissolution of marriage or legal separation of the parties, property acquired by the parties during marriage in joint form, including property held in tenancy in common, joint tenancy, or tenancy by the entirety, or as community property, is presumed to be community property. This presumption is a presumption affecting the burden of proof and may be rebutted by either of the following:

(a) A clear statement in the deed or other documentary evidence of title by which the property is acquired that the property is separate property and not community property.

(b) Proof that the parties have made a written agreement that the property is separate property.”

The legislative history of section 852 as set forth *In re Marriage of Steinberger* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1449 [111 Cal.Rptr.2d 521], and quoted in the Petition states that the section was enacted to require a writing to evidence “transfer of property between spouses.”

“The convenience and practice of informality recognized by the rule permitting oral transmutations must be balanced against the danger of fraud and increased litigation caused by it. The public expects there to be formality and written documentation of real property transactions, just as it expects there to be formality in dealings with personal property involving documentary evidence of title, such as automobiles, bank accounts, and shares of stock. Most people would find an oral transfer of such property, even between spouses, to be suspect and probably fraudulent, either as to creditors or between each other. Recommendation Relating to Marital Property Presumptions and Transmutations, 17 Cal. L. Revision Common Reports 205, 213–214 (1984).”  
*Id.* at p.1465.

It is precisely because there is formality and written documentation of the form of ownership when title is conveyed by a third party that the presumption of title applies to transactions with third parties. As stated in *Lucas*, “where there is no written indication of ownership interests as between the spouses, the general presumption of community property may be overcome simply by tracing the source of funds used to acquire the property to separate

property.” *Lucas, supra*, 27 Cal.3d 808, 815 [166 Cal.Rptr. 853, 614 P.2d 285].

The importance of this question is further diminished by the fact that the decision is unlikely to affect spouses other than possibly high net worth individuals who deliberately divest themselves of all indicia of ownership in insurance policies to prevent the proceeds from being included in valuing their estate.<sup>2</sup>

The last two proffered issues are related to Frankie’s contention that the fiduciary duties between spouses and the presumption of undue influence apply not only to transactions between spouses but also to transactions between a spouse and a third party. This case does not present that issue for review because the Court of Appeal expressly declined to answer the question stating:

“We need not resolve this issue, however, because Randy prevails under either theory. ¶ If Randy's theory is correct, she prevails because the acquisition of the policy resulted from a third party transaction and not from a transaction between spouses. If Frankie's theory is correct, Randy still prevails

---

<sup>2</sup> 26 U.S.C.A. § 2042 provides that the value of the gross estate shall include the value of all property receivable by the executor as insurance under policies on the life of the decedent receivable by the executor as insurance and receivable by beneficiaries “as insurance under policies on the life of the decedent with respect to which the decedent possessed at his death any of the incidents of ownership, exercisable either alone or in conjunction with any other person.”

because the third party transaction at issue was between Frankie and a third party and not between Randy and a third party. Randy could not have owed a fiduciary duty to Frankie in a transaction in which she did not participate. Under the theory that the fiduciary duties in section 721 apply to transactions between a spouse and a third party, the fiduciary duty would apply only when the transacting spouse gains an advantage over the spouse who is not a party to the transaction. (See *In re Marriage of Haines*, *supra*, 33 Cal.App.4th at p. 296, 39 Cal.Rptr.2d 673.) No such advantage was obtained here.” *Valli*, *supra*, 195 Cal.App.4th at p. 786 [124 Cal.Rptr.3d 726].

The Petition states that “the Opinion found that Randy did not benefit and thus the presumption of undue influence was not triggered.” The Petition mischaracterizes the Court of Appeal decision. The Court of Appeal opinion actually states that the presumption of undue influence was not triggered because the transacting spouse, i.e. Frankie, did not gain an advantage over the spouse who is not a party to the transaction with the third party, i.e. Randy. *Valli*, *supra*, 195 Cal.App.4th at p. 786 [124 Cal.Rptr.3d 726]. The Petition asserts that a fiduciary obligation applies to the spouse who had no dealings with the third party in the particular transaction in issue. That does not make any sense. However, in the *Valli* case, the Court of Appeal held that “[even if the fiduciary duties in [Family Code] section 721 apply to transactions between a spouse and a third party, the presumption of undue influence was rebutted by

the evidence at trial.” *Ibid.* So the decision would remain the same under either theory.

### **III. THE PETITION MISCHARACTERIZES THE COURT OF APPEAL OPINION, THE LAW, AND THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.**

Frankie did not petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal. Nevertheless, despite the limitations of California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500 subdivision (c), the Petition includes a lengthy “Statement of Facts.” The statement not only ranges far beyond the Court of Appeal opinion’s statement of facts and misstates the record in many instances. The Petition also mischaracterizes the Court of Appeal opinion and reaches conclusions that are not supported by the record. Some examples are as follows.

On Page 2 of the Petition, the Petition states that “During marriage, Randy suggested to Frankie (the husband) that they obtain the policy when he was in the hospital ....” Also on Page 2, the Petition states: “The only evidence presented about the acquisition of the policy was that Frankie agreed with Randy’s suggestion to obtain life insurance. On Page 20, the Petition states: “She requested that he buy the policy.” On Page 28, the Petition states: “The policy was her idea and she participated in the process of obtaining it.” All of these statements misrepresent the record.

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